

Asymptotic Expansion of Steady-State Potential in a High Contrast Medium with a Thin Resistive Layer

Ronan Perrussel, Clair Poignard

▶ To cite this version:

Ronan Perrussel, Clair Poignard. Asymptotic Expansion of Steady-State Potential in a High Contrast Medium with a Thin Resistive Layer. [Research Report] RR-7163, 2010, pp.22. inria-00442659v1

HAL Id: inria-00442659 https://inria.hal.science/inria-00442659v1

Submitted on 6 Jan 2010 (v1), last revised 7 Jun 2011 (v2)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



INSTITUT NATIONAL DE RECHERCHE EN INFORMATIQUE ET EN AUTOMATIQUE

Asymptotic Transmission Conditions for Steady-State Potential in a High Contrast Medium. A Uniform Variational Formulation for Resistive Thin Layers.

Ronan Perrussel — Clair Poignard

N° 7163

Janvier 2010

Thème NUM



inria-00442659, version 1 - 22 Dec 2009



INSTITUT NATIONA

Asymptotic Transmission Conditions for Steady-State Potential in a High Contrast Medium. A Uniform Variational Formulation for Resistive Thin Layers.

Ronan Perrussel^{*}, Clair Poignard[†]

Thème NUM — Systèmes numériques Équipes-Projets MC2

Rapport de recherche n° 7163 — Janvier 2010 — 19 pages

Abstract: We study the steady-state potential in a high contrast medium with a resistive thin layer. We provide asymptotic expansion of the potential at any order. Transmission conditions at any order and the corresponding variational formulation are given. We prove uniform estimates with respect to the thickness of the layer and with respect to its resistivity. The main insight consists in the uniform variational formulation whatever small the layer conductivity is. Numerical simulations illustrate the theoretical results.

Key-words: Asymptotic analysis, Finite Element Method, Laplace equations

* Laboratoire Ampère UMR CNRS 5005, Universit de Lyon, École Centrale de Lyon, F-69134 Écully, France

[†] INRIA Bordeaux-Sud-Ouest, Institut de Mathématiques de Bordeaux, CNRS UMR 5251 & Université de Bordeaux1, 351 cours de la Libération, 33405 Talence Cedex, France

Centre de recherche INRIA Bordeaux - Sud Ouest Domaine Universitaire - 351, cours de la Libération 33405 Talence Cedex Téléphone : +33 5 40 00 69 00

Conditions de transmission approchées pour des couches minces résistives.

Résumé :

Mots-clés : Analyse Asymptotique, Méthode des Eléments Finis, Equations de Laplace

Contents

Introduction	4
1.1 Motivation	4
1.2 The studied problem \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	4
1.3 Main result	6
Geometry	7
2.1 Laplace operator for functions	7
	•
Formal asymptotics	9
3.1 Recurrence formulae	9
Preliminary estimates	11
4.1 Variational formulation	11
4.2 Uniform estimates in ξ for the generic problem	11
4.3 A priori estimates for the asymptotic coefficients	13
Error estimates	13
Numerical simulations for a 3D–resistive thin layer	15
6.1 Approximate transmission conditions for the two first orders	15
	Introduction 1.1 Motivation 1.2 The studied problem 1.3 Main result 1.3 Main result I.3 Main result Geometry 2.1 Laplace operator for functions

1 Introduction

We present transmission conditions for the electro-quasistatic approximation of the Maxwell equations in a high contrast medium with an insulating thin layer. We aim at providing asymptotic expansion at any order, whatever small the conductivity of the layer is. The asymptotic for the thickness tending to zero are very different compared with the soft contrast medium [7, 8], since the effect of the thin layer appears at the zeroth order in the high contrast case. Therefore, unlike the result of Vogelius and Nguyen [13] for small diameter inhomogeneities, which provides a unique asymptotic formulation for both high and soft contrast media, such a result does not exist for thin layers.

1.1 Motivation

The distribution of the steady-state potential in a biological cell is important for bio-electromagnetic investigations. A sufficiently large amplitude of the transmembranar potential (TMP), which is the difference of the electric potentials between both sides of the cell membrane, leads to an increase of the membrane permeability [9, 12]. Molecules such as bleomycin can then diffuse across the plasma membrane. This phenomenon, called electropermeabilization, has been already used in oncology and holds promises in gene therapy [6, 11], justifying precise assessments of the TMP. Since the experimental measurements of the TMP on living cells are limited — mainly due to the membrane thinness, which is a few nanometers thick — a numerical approach is often chosen [9, 10]. However, these computations are confronted with the heterogeneous parameters of the biological cells. Therefore in this paper we derive a rigorous asymptotic analysis to tackle these numerical difficulties.

We consider the three-dimensional model of biological cell given by Schwan [4, 5] for different frequency ranges. This model is studied under the electroquasistatic approximation¹ of the Maxwell equations. This approximation is usually considered to describe the behavior of a cell submitted to an electric field of frequency smaller than few giga Hertz. Depending on the frequency, the modulus of the complex conductivity of the thin layer is either very small (for the frequency range under 10KHz), or of the same order (for the frequency range between 100KHz and 100MHz) compared with the membrane thickness. We aim to give a uniform formulation, that is valid whatever the frequency is, and that avoid to mesh the thin layer. More precisely, we provide uniform approximate transmission conditions, that describe the effect of the layer without meshing it. This uniform estimate over the proposed range of frequency (up to 100MHz) enables us to apply safely the transmission conditions also for time-transient and non-linear problem, which are more relevant for modeling the electropermeabilization process.

1.2 The studied problem

Denote by Ω a bounded domain with a smooth boundary $\partial \Omega$. The domain \mathcal{O}_c^{δ} is a subdomain of Ω . It is surrounded by a thin layer \mathcal{O}_m^{δ} with thickness δ such

 $^{^{1}}$ The electro-quasistatic approximation consists of neglecting the curl part of the electric field, which therefore derives from a potential so-called electric potential. This amounts to considering the steady-state potential equations with complex coefficients.

that $\mathcal{O}_m^{\delta} \cup \mathcal{O}_c^{\delta}$ is compactly embedded in Ω . We denote by $\mathcal{O}_e = \Omega \setminus \overline{\mathcal{O}_m^{\delta} \cup \mathcal{O}_c^{\delta}}$, which is supposed δ -independent. Let σ_c be the inner complex conductivity² of \mathcal{O}_c^{δ} and we define similarly σ_e and σ_m . We suppose that both imaginary and real parts of σ_e , σ_c , and σ_m are positive. We define $\mathcal{O}_c = \Omega \setminus \overline{\mathcal{O}_e}$ with smooth boundary Γ and

$$\sigma = \begin{cases} \sigma_c, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_c^{\delta}, \\ \sigma_m, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_m^{\delta}, \\ \sigma_e, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_e, \end{cases} \quad \text{and } \tilde{\sigma} = \begin{cases} \sigma_c, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_c, \\ \sigma_e, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_e. \end{cases}$$

The electro-quasistatic formulation is given by:

$$\begin{cases} \nabla \cdot (\sigma \nabla u) = 0, \text{ in } \Omega\\ u|_{\partial \Omega} = g, \text{ on } \partial \Omega; \end{cases}$$
(1)

g is the electric potential imposed on the boundary of Ω . We suppose that g is as regular as we need. We aim at providing the rigorous asymptotic expansion of the potential u for δ tending to zero and $|\sigma_m| \leq \delta$. The main insight of the paper is to consider the thin layer highly insulating in the sense that

$$\sigma_m = \delta \xi S_m$$

where $|S_m| = 1$ and $|\xi| \leq 1$. Depending on the frequency of the studied phenomenon, the parameter $|\xi|$ can be of the order 1, δ , or even smaller. For each frequency, it is possible to provide a precise asymptotic expansion by solving specific partial differential equations. However, in this paper we aim at giving a rigorous variational formulation, that allows to approach the steady-state potential accurately and for all the different cases in a same maneer. The method used to derive the effective transmission conditions has been extensively described previously. We refer to [3] for the original paper and to [8, 7] for a more general description. It consists in a suitable change of variables in the thin layer in order to make appear the small parameter in the equations.

Multiply (1) by \overline{u} and integrate by parts. There exists a constant C such that

$$\|u\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_e)} \le C|g|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)}, \quad \|\nabla u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{O}_c^{\delta})} \le C|g|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)},$$

and

$$\|\nabla u\|_{L^2(\mathcal{O}_m^{\delta})} \le \frac{C}{\sqrt{\xi\delta}} |g|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)}.$$

According to the last inequality, the more resistive the thin layer is, the worse the estimate of the electric field ∇u in the membrane is. This estimate makes us think that "the electric field is trapped into the membrane". Therefore, unlike the case of a soft contrast medium, we can assume that the resistive thin layer has an influence on the zeroth approximation of the potential. We aim at justifying this conjecture by performing a rigorous asymptotic expansion of the potential at any order, that are valid from the resistive case to the very resistive case.

$$\tau = \mathrm{i}\omega\varepsilon + s,$$

²The complex conductivity σ of a given material is defined by

where s and ε denote respectively the (real) conductivity and permittivity of the material, and ω is the frequency of the time-harmonic field.

1.3 Main result

The main result of the present paper can be summarized in the following Theorem.

Theorem 1.1. Let g belong to $H^{1+n+2}(\partial\Omega)$, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$. For all $0 \le k \le n$, there exists (g_D^k, g_N^k) in $H^{1/2+n+2-k}(\Gamma) \times H^{1/2+n+2-k}(\Gamma)$ and u^k such that:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u^{k} = 0 \quad in \ \mathcal{O}_{e} \cup \mathcal{O}_{c}, \quad u^{k}|_{\partial\Omega} = \delta_{0}^{k}g, \\ [\tilde{\sigma}\partial u^{k}]_{\Gamma} = g_{N}^{k} \quad on \ \Gamma, \\ S_{m}\xi[u^{k}]_{\Gamma} - \sigma_{c}\partial u_{\Gamma^{-}}^{k} = \xi g_{D}^{k} \quad on \ \Gamma. \end{cases}$$

The function (g_D^k, g_N^k) are defined by induction in equalities (17). Denote by

$$u_{app}^{n} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-\delta)^{k} u^{k},$$

then there exists a constant C_n independent on δ and ξ such that

$$\|u - u_{app}^{n}\|_{H^{1}(\mathcal{O}_{e})} \le C_{n} \xi \delta^{n} |g|_{H^{5/2+n}(\partial\Omega)},$$
(2)

and for all $\omega \in \mathcal{O}_c$

$$|u - u_{app}^{n}||_{H^{1}(\omega)} \le C_{n} \delta^{n} |g|_{H^{5/2+n}(\partial\Omega)},$$
(3)

$$\|\nabla(u - u_{app}^n)\|_{L^2(\omega)} \le C_n \xi \delta^n |g|_{H^{5/2+n}(\partial\Omega)}.$$
(4)

Observe that the previous conjecture is justified in the approximate transmission conditions of the jump of u^k across Γ . Actually, even at the zeroth order, the thin membrane has an influence on the potential, since the specific membrane conductivity S_m appears. This is the main insight of this paper: for resistive thin layer, the membrane influence appears at the zeroth order, and the electric field is trapped into the membrane. The variational formulation of the above problem is given by equation (19).

From the electromagnetic point of view, the estimates (2)-(4) are the more relevant since they provide precise estimates on the electric field. Moreover, these estimates are optimal since they are valid even if the complex conductivity of the thin layer dramatically decreases.

In Section 2, we perform the change of variables, that will be useful to derive the asymptotic expansion. We then perform the formal identification of the coefficients in Section 3, and we provide preliminary estimates in Section 4. Section 5 is devoted to the proof of our main result, and in the last section, numerical simulations with finite element method illustrate the theoretical results.

2 Geometry

Let $\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}} = (x_1, x_2)$ be a system of local coordinates on $\Gamma = \{\psi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}})\}$. Denote by n the normal vector³ of Γ outwardly directed to \mathcal{O}_c and define the map Φ by

$$\forall (\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) \in \Gamma \times \mathbb{R}, \quad \Phi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) = \psi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}) + x_3 n(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}).$$

The thin layer \mathcal{O}_m^{δ} is then parameterized by

$$\mathcal{O}_m^{\delta} = \left\{ \Phi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3), \quad (\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) \in \Gamma \times (-\delta, 0) \right\}.$$

The Euclidean metric in $(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3)$ is given by the 3×3 -matrix $(g_{ij})_{i,j=1,2,3}$ where $g_{ij} = \langle \partial_i \Phi, \partial_j \Phi \rangle$. According to [1], $g_{33} = 1$, $g_{\alpha,3} = g_{3,\alpha} = 0$ for $\alpha \in \{1,2\}$ and for $(\alpha, \beta) \in \{1,2\}^2$

$$g_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) = g^0_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}) - 2x_3 b_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}) + x_3^2 c_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}),$$
(5)

where

$$g^0_{\alpha\beta} = \langle \partial_{\alpha}\psi, \partial_{\beta}\psi \rangle, \quad b_{\alpha\beta} = \langle \partial_{\alpha}n, \partial_{\beta}\psi \rangle, \quad c_{\alpha\beta} = \langle \partial_{\alpha}n, \partial_{\beta}n \rangle$$

We denote by (g^{ij}) the inverse matrix of (g_{ij}) , and by g the determinant of (g_{ij}) .

2.1 Laplace operator for functions

The Laplace-Beltrami operator acting on functions for the metric $(g_{ij})_{i,j=1,2,3}$ is given by⁴ [2]

$$\Delta_g = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \sum_{i,j=1,2,3} \partial_i \left(\sqrt{g} g^{ij} \partial_j \right). \tag{6}$$

According to (5) and using the compacity of Γ , the functions g_{ij} are analytic on the cylinder $\Gamma \times [-\delta, 0]$, for δ small enough. Define for all $l \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\begin{cases} a_{ij}^l = \left. \partial_3^l \left(\frac{\partial_i \left(\sqrt{g} g^{ij} \right)}{\sqrt{g}} \right) \right|_{x_3=0}, & \text{for } (i,j) \in \{1,2,3\}^2, \\ A_{\alpha\beta}^l = \left. \partial_3^l \left(g^{\alpha\beta} \right) \right|_{x_3=0}, & \text{for } (\alpha,\beta) \in \{1,2\}^2. \end{cases}$$

Observe that the above functions a_{ij}^l and $A_{\alpha\beta}^l$ are smooth functions defined on Γ . Therefore we infer

$$\forall (\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, x_3) \in \Gamma \times (-\delta, 0),$$

$$\Delta_g = \partial_3^2 + \sum_{l \ge 0} \frac{x_3^l}{l!} \left(a_{33}^l \partial_3 + \sum_{\alpha, \beta = 1, 2} a_{\alpha\beta}^l \partial_\beta + A_{\alpha\beta}^l \partial_\alpha \partial_\beta \right).$$
(7)

³The normal vector n is defined by

$$n = \frac{\partial_1 \psi \wedge \partial_2 \psi}{|\partial_1 \psi \wedge \partial_2 \psi|}.$$

 ${}^{4}\partial_{i}$ denotes the partial derivative with respect to the variable x_{i} , for i = 1, 2, 3.

For all $l \in \mathbb{N}$, we denote by \mathcal{S}_{Γ}^{l} the differential operator of order 2 defined on Γ by

$$S_{\Gamma}^{l} = \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1,2} a_{\alpha\beta}^{l} \partial_{\beta} + A_{\alpha\beta}^{l} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta}, \qquad (8)$$

and we perform the change of variable $\eta = x_3/\delta$ to obtain the Laplacian in the local (\mathbf{x}_T, η) -coordinates

$$\Delta_g = \frac{1}{\delta^2} \partial_\eta^2 + \frac{1}{\delta} a_{33}^0 \partial_\eta + \sum_{l \ge 0} \delta^l \frac{\eta^l}{l!} \left(\frac{\eta}{l+1} a_{33}^{l+1} \partial_\eta + \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^l \right), \quad \forall (\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \eta) \in \Gamma \times (-1, 0).$$
(9)

The following proposition will be useful in order to derive the asymptotics.

Proposition 2.1. Let u be a smooth harmonic function in \mathcal{O}_c . We still denote by u the function $u \circ \Phi$ in the tubular neighborhood of Γ . For all $p \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists two surfacic operators on Γ denoted by R_N^p and R_D^p respectively of order p-1 and p such that

$$\partial_3^p u|_{\Gamma^-} = R_N^p(\partial_n u|_{\Gamma^-}) + R_D^p(u|_{\Gamma^-}). \tag{10}$$

The operators R_N^p and R_D^p are defined by the following recurrence formulae:

$$R_N^0 = 0, R_D^0 = \text{Id}, \quad R_N^1 = \text{Id}, R_D^1 = 0,$$

and for all $p \geq 0$

$$\begin{aligned} R_N^{p+2} &= -\sum_{l=0}^p C_p^l \left(a_{33}^l R_N^{p+1-l} + R_N^{p-l} \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^l \right), \\ R_D^{p+2} &= -\sum_{l=0}^p C_p^l \left(a_{33}^l R_D^{p+1-l} + R_D^{p-l} \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^l \right), \end{aligned}$$

where $C_{p}^{l} = p!/(l!(p-l)!).$

Proof. The proof is an application of the Leibniz rule for the differentiation applied to (7).

The above proposition leads to the following corollary by applying the Taylor formula with integral remainder term in the variable η .

Corollary 2.2. Let u be a smooth harmonic function in \mathcal{O}_c , and denote by $\Gamma_{-\delta}$ the boundary of \mathcal{O}_c^{δ} . There exists a sequence of operators $(T^p)_{p\geq 0}$ of order p such that for all $p \in \mathbb{N}$

$$u|_{\Gamma_{-\delta}^{-}} = \sum_{k=0}^{p} \frac{(-\delta)^{k}}{k!} \left(R_{N}^{k}(\partial_{n}u|_{\Gamma^{-}}) + R_{D}^{k}(u|_{\Gamma^{-}}) \right) + \frac{(-\delta)^{p+1}}{(p+1)!} T^{p+1}(u).$$
(11)

$$\partial_n u|_{\Gamma_{-\delta}^-} = \sum_{k=0}^p \frac{(-\delta)^k}{k!} \left(R_N^{k+1}(\partial_n u|_{\Gamma^-}) + R_D^{k+1}(u|_{\Gamma^-}) \right) + \frac{(-\delta)^{p+1}}{(p+1)!} T^{p+2}(u), \quad (12)$$

where there exists a constant C such that for all p

$$T^{p+i}(u)|_{H^{1/2-i}(\Gamma)} \le C ||u||_{H^{p+2}(\mathcal{O}_c)}, \quad i = 0, 1.$$

3 Formal asymptotics

Define the so-called profile function u_m in $\Gamma \times (-1,0)$ by

$$\forall (\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \eta) \in \Gamma \times (-1, 0), \quad u_m(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \eta) = u \circ \Phi(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \delta \eta).$$

Since $\sigma_m/\delta = \xi S_m$, the transmission conditions inherent to (1) write now:

$$\sigma_c \partial_n u|_{\Gamma_{-\delta}^-} \circ \Phi(\cdot, -\delta) = \xi S_m \partial_\eta u_m|_{\eta=-1}, \quad u|_{\Gamma_{-\delta}^-} \circ \Phi(\cdot, -\delta) = u_m|_{\eta=-1}, \quad (13)$$

$$\sigma_e \partial_n u|_{\Gamma^+} \circ \psi = \xi S_m \partial_\eta u_m|_{\eta=0}, \quad u|_{\Gamma^+} \circ \psi = u_m|_{\eta=0}. \tag{14}$$

To obtain our transmission conditions, we set

$$\begin{cases} u = u^0 - \delta u^1 + \delta^2 u^2 - \cdots, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_c^{\delta} \cup \mathcal{O}_e, \\ u_m = u_m^0 - \delta u_m^1 + \delta^2 u_m^2 - \cdots, \text{ in } \Gamma \times (-1, 0), \end{cases}$$
(15)

and we perform the identification of the terms with the same power in δ . We emphasize that the coefficients u^j will be defined in the whole domain Ω even if $\sum_{j=0}^{p} (-\delta)^j u^j$ approximates u only in $\mathcal{O}_e \cup \mathcal{O}_c^{\delta}$. Observe that equations (13) are written on $\Gamma_{-\delta}$, while we want to write transmission conditions on Γ . Insert the ansatz (15) into equalities (11)–(12) of Corollary 2.2 to infer

$$\begin{aligned} u|_{\Gamma_{-\delta}^{-}} &= \sum_{p\geq 0} (-\delta)^{p} \left(u^{p}|_{\Gamma^{-}} + \sum_{l=1}^{p} \frac{1}{l!} \Big(R_{N}^{l}(\partial_{n}u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^{-}}) + R_{D}^{l}(u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^{-}}) \Big) \right), \\ \partial_{n}u|_{\Gamma_{-\delta}^{-}} &= \sum_{p\geq 0} (-\delta)^{p} \left(\partial_{n}u^{p}|_{\Gamma^{-}} + \sum_{l=1}^{p} \frac{1}{l!} \Big(R_{N}^{l+1}(\partial_{n}u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^{-}}) + R_{D}^{l+1}(u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^{-}}) \Big) \right). \end{aligned}$$

3.1 Recurrence formulae

Let us now identify the terms with the same power in δ . We necessarily have:

 $\Delta u^p = 0, \quad \text{in } \mathcal{O}_e \cup \mathcal{O}_c, \quad u^0|_{\partial \Omega} = \delta_0^p g,$

where δ_0^p is the Kronecker symbol equal to 1 if p = 0 and 0 otherwise. Write now the equations satisfied by u_m^p in $\Gamma \times (-1, 0)$:

$$\partial_{\eta}^{2} u_{m}^{p} = -a_{33}^{0} \partial_{\eta} u_{m}^{p-1} - \sum_{l=0}^{p-2} \frac{\eta^{l}}{l!} \left(\frac{\eta}{l+1} a_{33}^{l+1} \partial_{\eta} u_{m}^{p-2-l} + \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^{l} u_{m}^{p-2-l} \right).$$
(16)

According to transmission conditions (13)-(14), by integrating the previous equality, we infer:

$$\begin{split} \xi S_m \partial_n u_m^p |_{\eta=-1} &= \sigma_c \left(\partial_n u_{\Gamma^-}^p + \sum_{l=1}^p \frac{1}{l!} \Big(R_N^{l+1} (\partial_n u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^-}) + R_D^{l+1} (u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^-}) \Big) \right), \\ &= -\xi S_m \int_{-1}^0 \left(a_{33}^0 \partial_\eta u_m^{p-1} + \sum_{l=0}^{p-2} \frac{\eta^l}{l!} \left(\frac{\eta}{l+1} a_{33}^{l+1} \partial_\eta u_m^{p-2-l} + \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^l u_m^{p-2-l} \right) \right) \mathrm{d}\eta + \sigma_e \partial_n u^p |_{\Gamma^+} \end{split}$$

This leads to the following Neumann transmission condition for u^p :

$$\begin{split} &[\tilde{\sigma}\partial_{n}u^{p}]_{\Gamma} = \sigma_{c}\sum_{l=1}^{p}\frac{1}{l!}\Big(R_{N}^{l+1}(\partial_{n}u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^{-}}) + R_{D}^{l+1}(u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^{-}})\Big) \\ &+ \xi S_{m}\int_{-1}^{0}\left(a_{33}^{0}\partial_{\eta}u_{m}^{p-1} + \sum_{l=0}^{p-2}\frac{\eta^{l}}{l!}\left(\frac{\eta}{l+1}a_{33}^{l+1}\partial_{\eta}u_{m}^{p-2-l} + \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^{l}u_{m}^{p-2-l}\right)\right)\mathrm{d}\eta. \end{split}$$

To obtain the Dirichlet transmission condition, we use the Taylor equality

$$\forall \eta \in (-1,0), \quad u_m^p(\cdot,\eta) = u_m^p|_{\eta=0} + \eta \partial_\eta u_m^p|_{\eta=0} + \int_0^\eta (\eta-s) \partial_\eta^2 u_m^p(\cdot,s) \mathrm{d}s.$$

According to (16)–(13)–(14) and applying the above equality with $\eta=-1,$ we infer

$$\begin{split} \xi S_m \left[u^p \right]_{\Gamma} &- \sigma_e \partial_n u^p |_{\Gamma^+} = \xi S_m \sum_{l=1}^p \frac{1}{l!} \left(R_N^l (\partial_n u^{p-l} |_{\Gamma^-}) + R_D^l u^{p-l} |_{\Gamma^-} \right) \\ &+ \xi S_m \int_{-1}^0 (1+\eta) \left(a_{33}^0 \partial_\eta u_m^{p-1} + \sum_{l=0}^{p-2} \frac{\eta^l}{l!} \left(\frac{\eta}{l+1} a_{33}^{l+1} \partial_\eta u_m^{p-2-l} + \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^l u_m^{p-2-l} \right) \right) \mathrm{d}\eta. \end{split}$$

Define u^k and u^k_m identically equal to zero for k = -2, -1. Therefore the sequences $(u^p)_{p\geq 0}$ and $(u^p_m)_{p\geq 0}$ are defined by:

$$\Delta u^{p} = 0, \quad \text{in } \mathcal{O}_{e} \cup \mathcal{O}_{c}, \quad u^{0}|_{\partial\Omega} = \delta_{0}^{p}\phi, \tag{17a}$$

$$\xi S_{m} [u^{p}]_{\Gamma} - \sigma_{e}\partial_{n}u^{p}|_{\Gamma^{+}} = \xi S_{m} \sum_{l=1}^{p} \frac{1}{l!} \left(R_{N}^{l}(\partial_{n}u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^{-}}) + R_{D}^{l}u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^{-}} \right) + \xi S_{m} \int_{-1}^{0} (1+\eta) \left(a_{33}^{0}\partial_{\eta}u_{m}^{p-1} + \sum_{l=0}^{p-2} \frac{\eta^{l}}{l!} \left(\frac{\eta}{l+1} a_{33}^{l+1}\partial_{\eta}u_{m}^{p-2-l} + \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^{l}u_{m}^{p-2-l} \right) \right) d\eta, \tag{17b}$$

$$\begin{split} & [\tilde{\sigma}\partial_{n}u^{p}]_{\Gamma} = \sigma_{c}\sum_{l=1}^{r}\frac{1}{l!}\left(R_{N}^{l+1}(\partial_{n}u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^{-}}) + R_{D}^{l+1}u^{p-l}|_{\Gamma^{-}}\right) \\ & + \xi S_{m}\int_{-1}^{0}\left(a_{33}^{0}\partial_{\eta}u_{m}^{p-1} + \sum_{l=0}^{p-2}\frac{\eta^{l}}{l!}\left(\frac{\eta}{l+1}a_{33}^{l+1}\partial_{\eta}u_{m}^{p-2-l} + \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^{l}u_{m}^{p-2-l}\right)\right) \mathrm{d}\eta. \end{split}$$
(17c)

In the cylinder $\Gamma\times(-1,0)$ we have

$$u_{m}^{p} = u^{p}|_{\Gamma^{+}} + \eta \frac{\delta_{e}}{\xi S_{m}} \partial_{n} u^{p}|_{\Gamma^{+}} + \int_{\eta}^{0} (\eta - s) \left(a_{33}^{0} \partial_{\eta} u_{m}^{p-1} + \sum_{l=0}^{p-2} \frac{s^{l}}{l!} \left(\frac{\eta}{l+1} a_{33}^{l+1} \partial_{\eta} u_{m}^{p-2-l} + \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^{l} u_{m}^{p-2-l} \right) \mathrm{d}s \right).$$
(17d)

4 Preliminary estimates

Let $s \ge 0$. Let g, g_N , and g_D belong respectively to $H^{1/2+s}(\partial\Omega)$, $H^{-1/2+s}(\Gamma)$, and to $H^{1/2+s}(\Gamma)$. Let v satisfy

$$\Delta v = 0, \quad \text{in } \mathcal{O}_e \cup \mathcal{O}_c, \quad v|_{\partial\Omega} = g, \tag{18a}$$

$$[\tilde{\sigma}\partial_n v]_{\Gamma} = g_N, \tag{18b}$$

$$\xi [v]_{\Gamma} - \frac{\sigma_c}{S_m} \partial_n v|_{\Gamma^-} = \xi g_D.$$
(18c)

4.1 Variational formulation

Define $PH^1(\Omega)$ the space of function in Ω , which have the H^1 -regularity in \mathcal{O}_e and \mathcal{O}_c :

$$PH^{1}(\Omega) = \left\{ u: \quad u|_{\mathcal{O}_{e}} \in H^{1}(\mathcal{O}_{e}), \quad u|_{\mathcal{O}_{c}} \in H^{1}(\mathcal{O}_{c}) \right\},$$

and let $PH_0^1(\Omega)$ the space of functions in $PH^1(\Omega)$, which vanish on $\partial\Omega$. The variational formulation of Problem (18) is:

find $v \in g + PH_0^1(\Omega)$ such that for all $\phi \in PH_0^1(\Omega)$

$$\int_{\Omega} \tilde{\sigma} \nabla v \nabla \phi \mathrm{d}x + \xi \int_{\Gamma} S_m[v]_{\Gamma}[\phi]_{\Gamma} \mathrm{d}s = \xi \int_{\Gamma} S_m g_D[\phi]_{\Gamma} \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\Gamma} g_N \phi|_{\Gamma^+} \mathrm{d}s.$$
(19)

Observing that the bilinear form $a(\cdot, \cdot)$ defined by

$$\forall (\phi, \psi) \in \left[PH^1(\Omega) \right]^2, \quad a(\phi, \psi) = \int_{\Omega} \tilde{\sigma} \nabla \phi \nabla \psi dx + \xi \int_{\Gamma} S_m[\phi]_{\Gamma}[\psi]_{\Gamma} ds,$$

is an hermitian product on $PH^1(\Omega)$ we infer the following proposition.

Proposition 4.1. Let $s \ge 0$. Let g, g_N , and g_D belong respectively to $H^{1/2+s}(\partial\Omega)$, $H^{-1/2+s}(\Gamma)$, and to $H^{1/2+s}(\Gamma)$. There exists a unique solution v to problem (18), which belongs to $PH^1(\Omega)$. More precisely, using elliptic regularity

$$v|_{\mathcal{O}_e} \in H^{1+s}(\mathcal{O}_e), \quad and \quad v|_{\mathcal{O}_c} \in H^{2+s}(\mathcal{O}_c).$$

4.2 Uniform estimates in ξ for the generic problem

In this section, we aim at providing uniform estimates for ξ tending to zero, for the solution v to (18). Let \mathcal{I} be defined by

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \mathcal{I} = 0, & \text{in } \mathcal{O}_e, \\ \mathcal{I}|_{\partial \Omega} = 0, & \mathcal{I}|_{\Gamma} = 1 \end{cases}$$

Multiply (18) by \mathcal{I} in \mathcal{O}_e and by 1 in \mathcal{O}_c , and integrate by parts twice in \mathcal{O}_e , and once in \mathcal{O}_c . We obtain the following equality:

$$\int_{\Gamma} \sigma_e v|_{\Gamma^+} \partial_n \mathcal{I}|_{\Gamma^+} \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\partial \Omega} \sigma_e g \partial_n \mathcal{I} \mathrm{d}s + \int_{\Gamma} g_N \mathrm{d}s.$$

Using the above equality, and multiplying (18) by \mathcal{I} in \mathcal{O}_e and by 0 in \mathcal{O}_c integration by parts leads to

$$\int_{\Gamma} [v]_{\Gamma} \mathrm{d}s = \xi \int_{\Gamma} g_D \mathrm{d}s.$$

We define the sequence $(v_e^l, v_c^l)_{l \ge 0}$ by

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v_e^0 = 0, & \text{in } \mathcal{O}_e, \\ v_e^0|_{\partial\Omega} = g, & \sigma_e \partial_n v_e^0|_{\Gamma} = g_N, \end{cases}$$

and

$$v_c^0 = \frac{1}{\mathrm{mes}(\Gamma)} \int_{\Gamma} v_e^0 \mathrm{d}s,$$

and for $l \geq 1$

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v_e^l = 0, & \text{in } \mathcal{O}_e, \\ v_e^l|_{\partial\Omega} = 0, & \sigma_e \partial_n v_e^l|_{\Gamma} = S_m (v_e^{k-1} - v_c^{k-1})|_{\Gamma} - S_m \delta_1^l g_D, \end{cases}$$
(20a)

and

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v_c^l = 0, & \text{in } \mathcal{O}_c, \\ \sigma_c \partial_n v_c^l|_{\Gamma} = S_m (v_e^{k-1} - v_c^{k-1})|_{\Gamma} - S_m \delta_1^l g_D, \\ \int_{\Gamma} v_c^l ds = \int_{\Gamma} (v_e^l - \delta_1^l g_D) ds. \end{cases}$$
(20b)

Proposition 4.2. For all $k \geq 0$, $(v_e^k, v_c^k) \in H^{1+s+k}(\mathcal{O}_e) \times H^{2+s+k}(\mathcal{O}_c)$, and v_c^0 is constant. Moreover there exists a constant $C_{\mathcal{O}_e,\mathcal{O}_c}$, which only depends on the domain \mathcal{O}_e and \mathcal{O}_c such that for all $k \geq 0$

$$\|v_{e}^{k}\|_{H^{1+s}(\mathcal{O}_{e})} + \|v_{c}^{k}\|_{H^{2+s}(\mathcal{O}_{c})} \leq C_{\mathcal{O}_{e},\mathcal{O}_{c}}^{k} \Big(|g|_{H^{1/2+s}(\partial\Omega)} + |g_{N}|_{H^{-1/2+s}(\Gamma)} \Big).$$

$$(21)$$

Proof. According to (20) there exists a constant $C_{\mathcal{O}_e,\mathcal{O}_c}$ such that for all $k \geq 1$

$$\|v_e^{k+1}\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_e)} + \|v_c^{k+1}\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_c)} \le C_{\mathcal{O}_e,\mathcal{O}_c}(\|v_e^k\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_e)} + \|v_c^k\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_c)}),$$

hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_e^{k+1}\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_e)} + \|v_c^{k+1}\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_c)} &\leq C_{\mathcal{O}_e,\mathcal{O}_c}^k(\|v_e^1\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_e)} + \|v_c^1\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_c)}), \\ &\leq C_{\mathcal{O}_e,\mathcal{O}_c}^{k+1} \Big(|g|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} \\ &+ |g_D|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} + |g_N|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)}\Big). \end{aligned}$$

Then we use the elliptic regularity satisfied by \boldsymbol{v}_e^k and \boldsymbol{v}_c^k to conclude.

INRIA

Proposition 4.3. For ξ small enough, the series $\sum_{l\geq 0} \xi^l v_e^l$ and $\sum_{l\geq 0} \xi^l v_c^l$ normally converge in $H^{1+s}(\mathcal{O}_e)$ and in $H^{1+s}(\mathcal{O}_c)$ respectively. Moreover, the sums satisfy Problem (18), hence by uniqueness

$$v|_{\mathcal{O}_e} = \sum_{l \ge 0} \xi^l v_e^l, \quad v|_{\mathcal{O}_c} = \sum_{l \ge 0} \xi^l v_c^l.$$

Particularly, since v_c^0 is constant, we infer that all the derivatives of $v|_{\mathcal{O}_c}$ are of order ξ .

Proof. Choose $\xi \in (0, 1/(2C_{\mathcal{O}_e, \mathcal{O}_c}))$ and Proposition 4.2 leads to Proposition 4.3.

4.3 A priori estimates for the asymptotic coefficients

The following proposition is an application of both propositions 4.2–4.3. The proof performed using the induction process is left to the reader.

Proposition 4.4. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $s \geq 0$. We suppose that g, g_D and g_N satisfy

$$g \in H^{1/2+s+k}(\partial\Omega), \quad g_D \in H^{1/2+s+k}(\Gamma), \quad g_N \in H^{-1/2+s+k}(\Gamma).$$

For $l \in \{0, \dots k\}$ denote u_e^l and u_c^l the respective restrictions of u^l to \mathcal{O}_e and \mathcal{O}_c . The following regularities hold:

$$u_e^l \in H^{1+s+k-l}(\mathcal{O}_e), \quad u_c^l \in H^{2+s+k-l}(\mathcal{O}_c).$$

In the cylinder $\Gamma \times (-1,0)$, the coefficients u_m^l equals

$$\forall (\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \eta) \in \Gamma \times (-1, 0), \quad u_m^l(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}, \eta) = \sum_{n=0}^l \eta^n f^n(\mathbf{x}_{\mathsf{T}}),$$

where $f^n \in H^{1/2+s+k-l}(\Gamma)$ for $n \in 0, \dots, l$. The following estimates hold

$$\begin{split} \|u_e^l\|_{H^{1+s+k-l}(\mathcal{O}_e)} &\leq C_{\Omega,k} \Big(|g|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} + |g_D|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} + |g_N|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)}\Big), \\ \|u_e^l\|_{H^{1+s+k-l}(\mathcal{O}_e)} &\leq C_{\Omega,k} \Big(|g|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} + |g_D|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} + |g_N|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)}\Big), \\ \max_{k=0,\cdots,l} |f^k|_{H^{1/2+s+k-l}(\Gamma)} &\leq C_{\Omega,k} \Big(|g|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} + |g_D|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} + |g_N|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)}\Big). \end{split}$$

Moreover, we have the following estimate uniformly in ξ :

$$\|\nabla u_{c}^{l}\|_{H^{s+k-l}(\mathcal{O}_{c})} \leq C_{\Omega,k}\xi\Big(|g|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)} + |g_{D}|_{H^{1/2}(\Gamma)} + |g_{N}|_{H^{-1/2}(\Gamma)}\Big).$$

5 Error estimates

For $p \geq 0$, we denote by \mathcal{L}_p the operator on $\Gamma \times (-1,0)$ of order 1 in the η -variable and 2 in the \mathbf{x}_{T} -variables defined by:

$$\mathcal{L}_p = \Delta_g - \frac{1}{\delta^2} \left(\partial_\eta^2 + a_{33}^0 \delta \partial_\eta + \sum_{l=2}^p \delta^l \frac{\eta^{l-2}}{(l-2)!} \left(\frac{\eta}{l-1} a_{33}^{l-1} \partial_\eta + \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma}^{l-2} \right) \right).$$

According to (9), for any function $u \in C^{\infty}([0,1]; H^{s+3/2}(\Gamma))$:

$$\|\mathcal{L}_p(u)\|_{H^{-1}(\Gamma\times(-1,0))} \le C_p \delta^{p-1} \max_{\eta\in[0,1]} |u(\eta,\cdot)|_{H^{s+3/2}(\Gamma)}.$$

According to Proposition 4.3, for all $k \ge 0$, the derivatives of $u^k|_{\mathcal{O}_c}$ are of order ξ . Define U^k as follows:

$$U^{k} = \begin{cases} u^{0} - \delta u^{1} + \dots + (-\delta)^{k} u^{k}, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_{e} \cup \mathcal{O}_{c}^{\delta}, \\ u_{0}^{m} - \delta u_{1}^{m} + \dots + (-\delta)^{k} u_{k}^{m}, \text{ in } \Gamma \times (-1, 0). \end{cases}$$

Our main result provides uniform estimates of the error performed by the approximate expansion at any order, for $|\xi|$ tending to zero. The following theorem straightforwardly leads to Theorem 1.1.

Theorem 5.1. Let $k \ge 0$. Suppose that g belongs to $H^{5/2+k}(\Gamma)$. Let $w^k = u - U^k$. There exists a constant C_k such that

$$\|w^k\|_{H^1(\mathcal{O}_e)} \le C_k \xi \delta^k |g|_{H^{5/2+k}(\partial\Omega)},$$
 (22)

and for all $\omega \in \mathcal{O}_c$

$$\|w^{k}\|_{H^{1}(\omega)} \leq C_{k} \delta^{k} |g|_{H^{5/2+k}(\partial\Omega)},$$
(23)

$$\|\nabla w^k\|_{L^2(\omega)} \le C_k \xi \delta^k |g|_{H^{5/2+k}(\partial\Omega)}.$$
(24)

Proof. By definition of the functions $(u^l)_{l\geq 0}$ and $(u^m_l)_{l\geq 0}$, we infer

$$\begin{split} \sigma \Delta w^k &= 0, \text{ in } \mathcal{O}_e \cup \mathcal{O}_c^{\delta}, \\ \sigma_m \Delta_g w^k &= -\sigma_m \mathcal{L}_k(U^k), \text{ in } \Gamma \times (-1,0), \\ w^k|_{\partial \Omega} &= 0, \end{split}$$

with the following transmission conditions

$$\begin{split} \sigma_c \partial_n w^k |_{\Gamma^-_{-\delta}} &- \sigma_m \partial_n w^k |_{\Gamma^+_{-\delta}} = \sigma_m \partial_n U^k |_{\Gamma^+_{-\delta}} - \sigma_c \partial_n U^k |_{\Gamma^-_{-\delta}}, \\ \sigma_m \partial_n w^k |_{\Gamma^-} &- \sigma_e \partial_n w^k |_{\Gamma^+} = 0, \\ w^k |_{\Gamma^-_{-\delta}} &- w^k |_{\Gamma^+_{-\delta}} = U^k |_{\Gamma^+_{-\delta}} - U^k_{\Gamma^-_{-\delta}}, \\ w^k |_{\Gamma^+} &- w^k |_{\Gamma^-} = 0. \end{split}$$

Moreover, by definition we have

$$\begin{split} \sigma_m \partial_n U^k |_{\Gamma^+_{-\delta}} &- \sigma_c \partial_n U^k |_{\Gamma^-_{-\delta}} = -\sigma_c \delta^{k+1} T^{k+2}(U^k), \\ U^k |_{\Gamma^+_{-\delta}} &- U^k |_{\Gamma^-_{-\delta}} = -\delta^{k+1} T^{k+1}(U^k). \end{split}$$

According to Proposition 4.4 and to Corollary 2.2 we infer

$$|T^{k+1+i}(U^k)|_{H^{1/2-i}(\Gamma)} \le C\xi, \quad i = 0, 1.$$

Multiply by ϕ in $H^1(\Omega)$ and integrate by parts with the help of Green's formula. Taking $\phi = w^k$ and using the trace theorem on Γ we infer that

$$\|\sigma \nabla w^k\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = O(\xi \delta^{k+1/2}).$$

INRIA

Then defining $\tilde{w}^k = w^k - (-\delta)^{k+1} u_{k+1}^m$ in $\Gamma \times (-1,0)$ and $\tilde{w}^k = w^k$ in $\mathcal{O}_e^{\delta} \cup \mathcal{O}_c$ we infer

$$\|\sigma\nabla\tilde{w}^k\|_{L^2(\Omega)} = O(\xi\delta^{k+1}),$$

hence the theorem.

6 Numerical simulations for a 3D–resistive thin layer

6.1 Transmission conditions for the two first orders

To obtain the two first order terms, we first observe that according to definition (8), S_{Γ}^{0} is the Laplace-Beltrami operator on Γ , therefore we denote it by $S_{\Gamma}^{0} = \Delta_{\Gamma}$. Hence, applying recurrence formula (17), we get the first two orders of the asymptotics.

The order 0

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u^{0} = 0, \quad \text{in } \mathcal{O}_{e} \cup \mathcal{O}_{c}, \\ \left[\widetilde{\sigma} \partial_{n} u^{0} \right]_{\Gamma} = 0, \quad \xi S_{m} \left[u^{0} \right]_{\Gamma} - \sigma_{e} \partial_{n} u^{0} |_{\Gamma^{+}} = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$u^{0} |_{\partial \Omega} = \phi.$$

$$(25)$$

In the membrane:

$$v_0^m = \eta [u^0]_{\Gamma} \circ \Psi + u_0|_{\Gamma^+}$$

The order 1

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u^{1} = 0, \quad \text{in } \mathcal{O}_{e} \cup \mathcal{O}_{c}, \\ \left[\widetilde{\sigma} \partial_{n} u^{1} \right]_{\Gamma} = \sigma_{c} \Delta_{\Gamma} u^{0} |_{\Gamma^{-}}, \\ \xi S_{m} \left[u^{1} \right]_{\Gamma} - \sigma_{e} \partial_{n} u^{1} |_{\Gamma^{+}} = \xi S_{m} \left(1 + \frac{a_{33}^{0}}{2} \frac{\sigma_{c}}{\xi S_{m}} \right) \partial_{n} u^{0} |_{\Gamma^{-}}. \end{cases}$$

$$(26)$$

$$u^{1} |_{\partial\Omega} = 0.$$

In the membrane:

$$v_1^m = u^1|_{\Gamma^+} + \eta \frac{\sigma_e}{\xi S_m} \partial_n u^1|_{\Gamma^+} - \frac{\eta^2}{2} a_{33}^0 [u^0]_{\Gamma}$$

Observe that the effect of the geometry appears at the first order term, while in the case of soft contrast material, it appears at the second order term [7, 8], since we have

$$\mathscr{H} = -\frac{a_{33}^0}{2},$$

where \mathcal{H} is the mean curvature of the surface Γ . If we were considering an infinite cylinder, and still denoting by Γ the curve of the cross section, a_{33}^0 would be the curvature of Γ .

We recall that the zeroth order approximation is u^0 and the first order approximation is $u^0 - \delta u^1$. In the next part we illustrate numerically the theoretical results by studying the rate of convergence of the errors $u - u^0$ and $u - (u^0 - \delta u^1)$ in H^1 -norm in the outer medium.

6.2 Simulations

Domains Ω and \mathcal{O}_i are two disks centered in 0 of respective radius equal to 2 and 1. Parameters σ_c and S_m are taken equal to 1 and σ_e to 2. Function ϕ is $\exp(\mathbf{i}3\theta)$.



Figure 1: Real part of $u^0 + \delta u^1$ computed by the finite element method with $\delta = 0.05$.

From the analytic solutions the expected rates of convergence with δ are verified since the numerical estimated exponents are respectively 1 for the order 0 and 2 for the order 1; see Figure 2. The green line corresponds to the zeroth order for the soft contrast media. In the soft contrast case, the effect of the layer appears only at the first order term, meaning that the influence of the layer is of order δ . We observe that this potential does not provide an accurate approximation of the potential, since the error estimate does not converge, when δ tends to zero.

As predicted by Theorem 5.1 and Theorem 1.1, the rate of convergence of the zeroth order term u^0 defined by (25) increases when the membrane conductivity decreases, justifying the use of such approximate conditions whatever small the membrane conductivity is; see Figure 3. This behavior is also recovered when using the finite element method based on the variational formulation (19) for solving our model problem; see Figure 4.

We conclude by observing that the convergence rates are asymptotic meaning that if the membrane is not thin enough, it is not sure that our approximate transmission conditions are relevant. For instance, in the configurations we chose, the accuracy of the transmission conditions seems to increase for a thickness around 10^{-1} but if we were choosing other configurations, the accuracy could have decreased as well. Therefore, the shape of the error curves are not significative for a thickness larger than 10^{-2} .



Figure 2: Log-log diagram of the error versus the membrane thickness.



Figure 3: Log-log diagram of the error of the zeroth order for different small conductivities.



Figure 4: Log-log diagram of the error of the zeroth order for different small conductivities. Computations are performed with the finite element method.

References

inria-00442659, version 1 - 22 Dec 2009

- M.P. do Carmo. Differential geometry of curves and surfaces. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1976. Translated from the Portuguese.
- [2] B.A. Dubrovin, A.T. Fomenko, and S.P. Novikov. Modern geometry methods and applications. Part I, volume 93 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1992. The geometry of surfaces, transformation groups, and fields, Translated from the Russian by Robert G. Burns.
- [3] B. Engquist and J.C. Nédélec. Effective boundary condition for acoustic and electromagnetic scattering thin layer. *Technical Report of CMAP*, 278, 1993.
- [4] E.C. Fear and M.A. Stuchly. Modelling assemblies of biological cells exposed to electric fields. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, 45(10):1259–1271, Oct 1998.
- [5] K.R. Foster and H.P. Schwan. Dielectric properties of tissues and biological materials: a critical review. *CRC in Biomedical Engineering*, 17(1):25–104, 1989.
- [6] M. Marty, G. Sersa, and J.-R. Garbay *et al.* Electrochemotherapy an easy, highly effective and safe treatment of cutaneous and subcutaneous metastases: Results of esope (european standard operating procedures of electrochemotherapy) study. *E.J.C Supplements*, 4:3–13, 2006.
- [7] C. Poignard. Approximate transmission conditions through a weakly oscillating thin layer. Math. Meth. App. Sci., 32:435–453, 2009.

- [8] C. Poignard, P. Dular, R. Perrussel, L. Krähenbühl, L. Nicolas, and M. Schatzman. Approximate conditions replacing thin layer. *IEEE Trans.* on Mag., 44(6):1154–1157, 2008.
- [9] G. Pucihar, T. Kotnik, B. Valič, and D. Miklavčič. Numerical determination of transmembrane voltage induced on irregularly shaped cells. Ann Biomed Eng, 34(4):642–652, Apr 2006.
- [10] J.L. Sebastián, S. Muñoz, M. Sancho, and J.M. Miranda. Analysis of the influence of the cell geometry and cell proximity effects on the electric field distribution from direct rf exposure. *Phys. Med. Biol.*, 46:213–225 (electronic), 2001.
- [11] G. Serša. Application of electroporation in electrochemotherapy of tumors. In Electroporation based Technologies and Treatment: proceedings of the international scientific workshop and postgraduate course, pages 42–45, 14-20 November 2005. Ljubljana, SLOVENIA.
- [12] J. Teissié, M. Golzio, and M.P. Rols. Mechanisms of cell membrane electropermeabilization: A minireview of our present (lack of?) knownledge. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1724:270–280, 2005.
- [13] M.S. Vogelius and H-M. Nguyen. A representation formula for the voltage perturbations caused by diametrically small conductivity inhomogeneities. Proof of uniform validity. Submitted.



Centre de recherche INRIA Bordeaux – Sud Ouest Domaine Universitaire - 351, cours de la Libération - 33405 Talence Cedex (France)

Centre de recherche INRIA Grenoble – Rhône-Alpes : 655, avenue de l'Europe - 38334 Montbonnot Saint-Ismier Centre de recherche INRIA Lille – Nord Europe : Parc Scientifique de la Haute Borne - 40, avenue Halley - 59650 Villeneuve d'Ascq Centre de recherche INRIA Nancy – Grand Est : LORIA, Technopôle de Nancy-Brabois - Campus scientifique 615, rue du Jardin Botanique - BP 101 - 54602 Villers-lès-Nancy Cedex Centre de recherche INRIA Paris – Rocquencourt : Domaine de Voluceau - Rocquencourt - BP 105 - 78153 Le Chesnay Cedex

Centre de recherche INRIA Rennes – Bretagne Atlantique : IRISA, Campus universitaire de Beaulieu - 35042 Rennes Cedex Centre de recherche INRIA Saclay – Île-de-France : Parc Orsay Université - ZAC des Vignes : 4, rue Jacques Monod - 91893 Orsay Cedex Centre de recherche INRIA Sophia Antipolis – Méditerranée : 2004, route des Lucioles - BP 93 - 06902 Sophia Antipolis Cedex

> Éditeur INRIA - Domaine de Voluceau - Rocquencourt, BP 105 - 78153 Le Chesnay Cedex (France) http://www.inria.fr ISSN 0249-6399